
 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF CARTHAGE 

PLANNING BOARD 

January 7th, 2025 

6:00 P.M. 

 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. INVOCATION 

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA - Members of the board may remove or add items to the agenda 

prior to commencing the meeting. Motions/votes are not required to approve the agenda but there 

must be unanimous consent before proceeding. 

 

5. CONSENT AGENDA - All items listed below are considered routine and will be enacted by one 

motion. No separate discussion will be held except on request of a member of the Planning Board 

to remove an item from the consent agenda and place it on the regular agenda. 

 

a. Approval of minutes from November 7, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes.  

 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT - Members of the public may use this time to address the Planning Board 

with any presentations, questions or concerns. Those who wish to speak should fill out the sign-

up sheet in the building’s entryway to be recognized during the public comment session or raise 

their hand and wait to be recognized by the presiding member. All public comment made as part 

of a public hearing should be withheld until the public hearing has begun and the floor is given to 

public comments. No public comment will be had outside of this public comment session or a 

public hearing unless otherwise permitted by the members of the board. The chairperson may 

place time limits on speakers prior to the start of the public comment session. 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS 

 

8. OATH OF OFFICE 

a. Corey Diebel Oath of Office  

 

9. NEW BUSINESS  

a. Rezoning of PID #20230534 / 5275 NC HWY 22; Petitioner: Joshua and Amanda 

Brown. 

b. 3810 US 15-501 Industrial Zone Site Plan; Petitioner: Lauren Rothlisberger 

c. Text Amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance for Major Subdivision – 

Construction Drawings (A) Section 100.65-9 (A); Petitioner: Town of Carthage 

10. OTHER BUSINESS OF THE BOARD 

 

11. ADJOURNMENT 



 

 TOWN OF CARTHAGE  

PLANNING BOARD  

MEETING MINUTES 

November 7th, 2024 

Attendance: Antoniette Kelly, Bill Smyth, Elizabeth Futrell, Ian Lumgair and David Norris 

Absent: Victoria Riddle 

1. CALL TO ORDER  

a. Elizabeth Futrell called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  

2. IVOCATION  

a. Antoniette Kelly gave the invocation.  

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

a. Motion: 

Elizabeth Futrell made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. All ayes. 

Motion passes 5-0.  

5. CONSENT AGENDA  

a. Motion: 

Elizabeth Futrell made a motion to accept the Consent Agenda with the 

approval of the October 3rd, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes. Bill Smyth 

seconded the motion. All ayes, motion passes 5-0.  

6. PUBLIC COMMENT  

a. Mark Phillips addressed the Veteran’s Day Ceremony at the memorial.  

7. OLD BUSINESS  

a. No old business. 

8. OATH OF OFFICE 

a. Corey Diebel Oath of Office is postponed to the January regular meeting.  

9. NEW BUSINESS  

a. Site Plan Review for a New Commercial Building for the Fred Smith Company, 

PARID 00005661; Petitioner: Canterbury Construction for FSC II LLC. 

The applicant, Canterbury Construction, on behalf of the Fred Smith Company (FSC II 

LLC) submitted a “Zoning/Subdivision Request Form” for a site plan approval to add a new 



 

commercial building to their property located at 6644 and 6648 Glendon Carthage Road. This 

new commercial building consists of 4,800 square feet for 2 indoor bays and 3,600 square feet 

for proposed offices, for a total of 8,400 square feet of new office space. This project is located 

at their current facility on approximately 22.5 acres at parcel 00005661. The current zoning of 

this parcel is Industrial Conditional Zoning (I-CZ). Please view Attachment 1 for Ordinance 

22.01 which was approved February 21, 2022, and applies to this parcel. A commercial building 

is subject to a site plan approval, per the approved ordinance, Ordinance 22.01, and subject 

 to the Unified Development Ordinance Section 100.64. The new commercial building includes 

vehicle repair and servicing, and ancillary office uses, all permitted uses with the adopted 

ordinance. 

A site plan review is required by the UDO and is generally for informational purposes 

only. The request is an already permitted use and can be built by right. Site plan review does not 

give the Planning Board an option to recommend conditions or changes, but the Planning Board 

may ask questions. John Alsby (sp) with CSB engineering, located at 375 E. 3rd Street, Wendell, 

NC, requests to speak on behalf of the owner, Fred Smith. Older facility located at bottom and 

upgrading to a new facility. The current older facility will be retained for storage and other uses. 

Mr. Alsby described the project in more detail with regard to parking.  

 

First Motion: 

David Norris made a motion that the site plan is complete and meets all 

requirements by the Unified Development Ordinance. Ian Seconded the motion. 

All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

 

b. CZ-07-24: Conditional Zoning Request for Ouida Food Truck Park from CBD to 

CBD-CZ at 310 McReynolds Street (PID #00002645 & #20120232); Petitioner: Ouida Newell.  

The applicant and owner, Ouida Newell, on behalf of herself submitted a commercial site 

plan to 

develop a food truck park. She is requesting conditional zoning, to allow for 4 food trucks on her 

commercial properties which is shown on the attached commercial site plan, Attachment 1. Her 

properties are located at 310 Monroe Street and 310 Monroe Street Unit A. The parcels are 

20120232 and 00002645, located on the corner of Monroe Street and Rockingham Street in the 



 

Central Business District (CBD). 

She would like to create “Ouida Food Truck Park” which consists of four food trucks, 7 

picnic tables and 43 parking spaces. Per our current UDO, there is one mobile food truck 

permitted per parcel. She would like to have four food trucks, only on 310 Monroe Street, parcel 

00002645. She would like to 

create a pleasant outdoor environment for food and entertainment, similar to the mobile food 

truck park in Southern Pines, NC. She has worked with meeting to town UDO standards and 

submitted her site plan for review. 

Ouida Newell wishes to keep the site as is with no tree removal or paving. UDO allows 1 

truck per parcel; she is requesting 4 as a condition. Ouida also owns her own food truck and 

operates at the property currently. Ouida addressed the board and stated that Andrew Shepard has 

been hired to clear brush on the back parcel in order to expand space if the project takes off such 

as was the case with Red’s Corner. Ingress and egress driveway has been planned to avoid on site 

traffic jams and Ouida intends to post enter and exit signs to help direct drivers in and out of the 

property. Ouida would like 3’ x 2’ signs to be easily read. Hours may vary during the seasons, 

summer may be longer hours. Ouida would like to be open 10a-10p, winter could be 10a-7p.  

Elizabeth Futrell asked if the house behind the property, that is for sale, has been asked. 

Martha lives in the house now and Ouida discussed the project with her and Martha is favorable 

to it. Staff have not received any public questions or feedback at this point. Bill asked if there 

would be alcohol. Ouida is not planning to allow alcohol at this time, but perhaps in the future. 

Jennifer referenced the UDO for this and it is permitted in this zoning district with an alcohol 

permit.  

Ian Lumgair asked what the plans were for the buildings. The front porch of the historic 

home will be used for serving beer in the future. The historic home is also planned to potentially 

be a tourist home or similar short-term rental, but Ouida is still in early stages of planning this 

concept. For recordation on the conditional zoning request, the future conditions will be added.  

No public comments were made.  

 

First Motion: 



 

David Norris made a motion that the Conditional Zoning request for 310 

McReynolds Street was consistent with the 2040 Land Use Plan. Antoniette 

Kelly seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

Second Motion: 

David Norris made a motion to recommend approval of the Conditional Zoning 

request at 310 McReynolds Street to the Board of Commissioners as presented. 

Bill Smyth seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

c. CZ-03-24: Conditional Zoning Request for Bonck America Corporation Solar Business 

from R-20 to R-20-CZ at 409 Rockingham Street (PID #00005184); Petitioner: Charles Lu.  

The applicant, Charles Lu, owner of Bonck America Corporation, owner of 409 

Rockingham Street, would like to propose using his home for his solar business. In addition, he 

would like to request your approval to allow for 10-11 people maximum, with 3 to 5 people daily 

to work with him. He would not be open to the public and has said he will make no noise. He 

will store solar panels on site. 

This parcel 00005184, is approximately 2.4 acres in the R-20 “Residential” zoning 

district. It is located on Rockingham Street across the street from Carthage Elementary school. 

Mr. Lu has been working with the Town staff since March in proposing this request. He currently 

operates his business in the downtown area; however, he has been adamant about wanting to use 

his current home for his office. He currently does not qualify for a home occupation, per our 

UDO, since he does not abut a commercial property on one side. However, the conditional 

zoning request is within his property owners’ rights to request. 

Cannot rezone to allow the commercial use of the property due to concerns with spot 

zoning since the surrounding property is zoned residential. Currently has an office in a 

commercial building downtown. Wishes to move the office to the home property under home 

occupation designation. Mr. Lu has translator, English is 2nd language. 

The warehouse is in NY. Mr. Lu passed out additional material to board members 

describing more about his company. Testing of panels will need to be done. Cannot do this in a 

building downtown. Develops software through testing. Just for testing and using basement only. 

1900 sf in basement. Parking: Mr. Lu estimates 1100 sf for parking, car park structure will have 



 

solar panels and be used for testing solar panels. Plans to have 3-5 people daily in person, up to 

11 total. Most staff work remotely. Mostly operations staff will be at property. 

Ian Lumgair asked if any street parking would be used. The translator responded no. The 

property is approximately 2 acres. Ian asked if there would be commercial style signs on the 

property. Lu says no, everything online. No customers coming. Only workers test panels in the 

house for software development.  

No other questions from Planning Board.  

 

First Motion: 

Ian Lumgair made a motion that the Conditional Rezoning request at 409 

Rockingham Street is consistent with the 2040 Land Use Plan. Antoniette Kelly 

seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

Second Motion: 

David Norris made a motion to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the Conditional Zoning request at 409 Rockingham Street. Ian 

Lumgair seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

d. Annexation and Rezoning for Moore County B-2 to Town of Carthage Highway 

Commercial District (HCD) Zoning for Lot #1 Legion Hut Road (PID #20060239); Petitioner: 

Southbury Development, LLC. 

Jennifer introduced the request. The applicants in attendance. No public comment made. 

Reno Dell’Acqua present for applicant, COO of Southbury, looking for commercial uses such as 

small-scale commercial development. Examples cited were coffee shop or “Waffle House”. Ian 

Lumgair asked if the Cooper Ford car wash was still moving forward, Jennifer confirmed that it 

was. Ian Lumgair expressed concerns for traffic flow in that area if it were to build up. Jennifer 

explained that staff are looking at ways to adjust UDO language to ensure that traffic growth and 

safety is accommodated in the future UDO.  

First Motion: 



 

Ian Lumgair motioned to approve the Rezoning request for Lot #1 Legion 

Hut Road (PID #20060239) was consistent with the 2040 Land Use Plan. 

David Norris seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

Second Motion: 

David Norris made a motion to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the Rezoning request of Lot #1 Legion Hut Road (PID 

#20060239). Antoniette Kelly seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-

0.  

e. Southbury Trail Major Modification Request; Petitioner: Southbury 

Development, LLC.  

Jennifer presented the request. Explained that residents living in the trail head have 

concerns about the trail which prompted members of the Board of Commissioners and applicant 

to reconsider the trail. Jennifer showed the trail’s location and explained how it would be built if 

further developed. Jennifer showed how pedestrian connectivity could be achieved through the 

development of the trail to allow people to walk from the current town hall to downtown area 

without having to follow the busy highways. The trail would need to be ADA accessible if 

properly built.  

The applicant explained that the trail was being prepared to be built when he received 

word that there were citizens’ concerns. Elizabeth asked what the citizen concerns were.  

Mark Phillips spoke, as neighbor to trail, approved walking trail when he was 

commissioner. BOC assumed at the time that the trail would be further over from his property. 

Because of ADA requirements, the trail needs to be built closer to the property line. Jennifer 

explained that trees would need to be removed between the 2 properties to build it and 

understands that there is a privacy concern as well as drainage issues to get around. Engineer, 

Shane Sanders, planned to follow sewer easement, but due to flooding in a depression at the end 

of the trail it floods during major rain events. Then required ADA regs requires that trail head 

needs to be higher than Saunders to achieve necessary design.  



 

Bridge was discussed. Engineer explained that a wooden bridge would be wet all the time 

and cause maintenance issues. Jennifer explained that ordinance designates HOA to maintain 

bridge since it is part of the open space for the development.  

Jennifer explained that ordinance requires a trial but can be amended to remove it or alter 

it. Bill Smyth, resident of Southbury, explained that there is discussion that HOA may be 

dissolved once declarant, DR Horton, turns over HOA to the homeowners. Mr. Phillips states that 

trail will run within 5 feet of his garage. A fence was proposed to separate the properties. Also 

stated that there are no pedestrian improvements on Saunders. Jennifer referenced Bike Ped plan 

that sidewalks are to be built in that area. Jennifer explained the in recent discussions with Public 

Works Department town could build sidewalks with current budget. Bill asked if the trail would 

have any parking. Applicant says no. So, visitors to the trail would need to enter the 

neighborhood and park to use the trail. Open areas would be left natural if removed.  

PB discussed concerns over losing privacy for existing HOAs at end of trail, HOA 

maintenance of trail and flooding issues.  

No other discussion.  

First Motion: 

Bill Smyth motioned to approve the Major Modification request for the 

Southbury Trail was consistent with the 2040 Land Use Plan. Ian Lumgair 

seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

Second Motion: 

Bill Smyth made a motion to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners for the Conditional Zoning Amendment (Major 

Modification). Ian Lumgair seconded the motion. All ayes. Motion passes 5-0.  

 f. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.65-9 (A) 

Major Subdivision – Construction Drawings (A); Petitioner: Town of Carthage.  

Jennifer presented storm water concerns from residents of new subdivisions. In response, 

staff has developed an ordinance amendment to allow more stormwater controls. Jennifer stated 

Stormwater concerns tend to increase with smaller lots and increased development. Explained 

that a positive drainage map should be provided by builder before final plats are approved to 



 

ensure stormwater drainage requirements are being met and reduce concerns later after homes 

are purchased.  

Ian asked where the concerns were coming from. Jennifer explained that there are 

multiple concerns not just in Carthage, but county wide as noted in the pilot. There is potential 

for builders to change the drainage work done by the developer and this needs to be managed.  

Bill asked if fencing of the ponds could be required. Jennifer said yes, the board may 

recommend that fences be required as part of this hearing. Bill and David, as residents of the 

community, expressed concerns they’ve received from neighbors about the threat to public safety 

by deep sides of pond. Expressed that a recent new homeowner had to put a fence around their 

home due to stormwater pond being without fencing. Bill has tried to call HOA company but 

receives no reply.  

Design of fencing and heigh was discussed. Staff recommended board table ordinance 

amendment and have Jennifer bring back design requirements for PB consideration.  

Motion: 

David Norris motions to table and directs Town Planner to bring back design 

standards to consider. Antoniette Kelly 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

g. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.38-1 “No 

Occupancy or Use Until Requirements Fulfilled”; Petitioner: Town of Carthage. 

Jennifer Hunt read the text that changed with the passing of SB 166. Summarized that if 

developer doesn’t put in their landscaping and lighting town cannot withhold CO approval 

because it doesn’t affect public health and safety. No control over this, required to amend. But 

the process of amendment still must go through Planning Board as required by USGS 160D. 

Planning Board expressed concerns with the removal of this authority from the towns by 

the state and had much discussion about how communities will be able to enforce it.  

First Motion: 

David Norris motioned that the UDO Text Amendment was consistent with 

the 2040 Land Use Plan. Antoniette Kelly 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

Second Motion: 



 

David Norris motioned to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the UDO Text Amendment to Section 100.38-1. Antoniette 

Kelly 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

h.  Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.68-D 

“Limitations or Impervious Area”; Petitioner: Town of Carthage. 

Jennifer Hunt read the text that changed with the passing of SB 166. No control over this, 

required to amend. But the process of amendment still must go through Planning Board as 

required by USGS 160D.  

First Motion: 

Ian Lumgair motioned that the UDO Text Amendment was consistent with 

the 2040 Land Use Plan. David Norris 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

Second Motion: 

Ian Lumgair motioned to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the UDO Text Amendment to Section 100.68-D. David Norris 

2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

i. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.57-15 

“Residential Driveways for New Construction”; Petitioner: Town of Carthage. 

Jennifer Hunt read the text that changed with the passing of SB 166. No control over this, 

required to amend. But the process of amendment still must go through Planning Board as 

required by USGS 160D.  

First Motion: 

Antoniette Kelly motioned that the UDO Text Amendment was consistent 

with the 2040 Land Use Plan. David Norris 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-

0. 

Second Motion: 

Antoniette Kelly motioned to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the UDO Text Amendment to Section 100.57-15. David 

Norris 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 



 

j. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.65-12 “Performance 

Guarantees for Major Subdivisions”; Petitioner: Town of Carthage. 

Jennifer Hunt read the text that changed with the passing of SB 166. No control over this, 

required to amend. But the process of amendment still must go through Planning Board as 

required by USGS 160D.  

First Motion: 

Ian Lumgair motioned that the UDO Text Amendment was consistent with 

the 2040 Land Use Plan. David Norris 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

Second Motion: 

Ian Lumgair motioned to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the UDO Text Amendment to Section 100.65-12. David 

Norris 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

 k. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Text Amendment to Section 100.56A* Special 

Requirements 37 “Wireless Telecommunication Facilities”; Petitioner: Town of Carthage. 

  Jennifer Hunt stated that the ordinance needed to be updated in order to help 

people interested in placing WTFs on their properties. Minor, but necessary edits until full UDO 

is completed.  

First Motion: 

Ian Lumgair motioned that the UDO Text Amendment was consistent with 

the 2040 Land Use Plan. Bill Smyth 2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

Second Motion: 

David Norris motioned to recommend approval to the Board of 

Commissioners the UDO Text Amendment to Section 100.56A*. Ian Lumgair 

2nd the motion. Motion passes 5-0. 

 

10. OTHER BUSINESS OF THE BOARD  

a. No meeting in December. Next meeting is Tuesday, January 7th, 2025. Add at 6pm. 

 

11. ADJOURNMENT  



 

Bill Smyth motioned to adjourn the meeting. Ian Lumgair seconded the motion. All ayes. 

Motion passes 5-0. Meeting adjourned at 7:48 p.m.  

 

 

 

 



 

 

MEMORANDUM  

 
Date:  January 7, 2025 
 
To:   Planning Board 
 
From:    Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner 
 

Subject: R-01-25: Rezoning from RA-40 (Moore County) to RA-40 “Residential Agricultural District” (Town 

of Carthage) for PARID: 20230534; Petitioner: Amanda and Joshua Brown 

              
 

I. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION REQUEST: 

The applicant and owner, Amanda and Joshua Brown, are requesting annexation into the Town of 
Carthage and therefore must receive a zoning district for the property they wish to annex. This 
parcel 20230534 is located off NC 22 Hwy near Harper Lane. The address is 6275 NC 22 Carthage, NC 
28315. The applicant requests to be zoned RA-40, Residential Agricultural District. This is aligned 
with the abutting property to the south and the area which is also RA-40 with the Town of Carthage.  
 

II. PROJECT INFORMATION: 

1. PARID:  20230534  PIN:  857500555791 
 

2. Applicant & Owner:  Joshua and Amanda Brown 
 

3. Long-Range Plan Designation:  
This future area of this land appears to be Town Residential, per the adopted 2040 Land Use 
Plan.  
 

4. Current Zoning:  
The current zoning is RA-40 with Moore County, according to Moore County GIS online.  

 
5.  Site outlined in red below.  



 
 

III. APPLICATION REVIEW: 

When reviewing an application for rezoning, the Planning Board shall consider and be guided by 
Article 3. Below is highlighted Section 100.32, Section 100.42 and Section 100.44 (4) as set forth in 
UDO: 
 
Sec. 100.32 Planning Board – Powers and Duties 
In addition to its specific duties set forth in this and other Town Ordinances and policies, the Planning 
Board shall have the following powers and duties: 

1. To make studies of the Town and surrounding areas; 
2. To determine objectives to be sought in the development of the Town; 
3. To propose and recommend plans for achieving these objectives; 
4. To develop and recommend to the Board of Commissions policies, ordinances, administrative 

procedures and other means for carrying out plans in a coordinated and efficient manner; 
5. To advise the Board of Commissioners concerning the use and amendment of means for 

carrying out plans; 
6. To exercise such functions in the administration and enforcement of various means for 

carrying 



out plans as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances of the Town; and 
7. To perform other related duties as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances. 

 
 
Section 100.42 Types of Amendments: 
Amendments may be to the text of the ordinance or take the form of map amendments, often known 
as rezoning. The Town of Carthage recognizes three types of amendments.  

1. Text Amendments. This type of amendment is used when a party chooses to modify the 
actual text of the ordinance. This is a legislative decision by the Board of Commissioners.  

2. Map Amendments. This type of amendment is used when a party chooses to change a 
zoning district from one type to another. Often known as a straight rezoning, it recognizes 
that the change in district allows for all uses allowed within a given zoning district. It cannot 
be conditioned in any way. This is a legislative decision by the Board of Commissioners.  

3. Conditional Zoning. Conditional Zoning is an amendment process that is both a map 
amendment and a text amendment. It is a legislative decision by the Board of 
Commissioners, but it allows for the placement of conditions and/or limits on the approval. 

 
Section 100.44 (4) Planning Board 
All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by the Planning Board for 
a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to conduct a public 
hearing, but they are encouraged to accept public input. The Planning Board shall evaluate all 
proposals for consistency with any adopted long-range plans and adopt a statement of consistency 
with said plans before voting to recommend approval or denial of the request.  

 
A. Staff Comments:  

Staff has found that the applicant meets the rezoning requirements and is not encouraging spot 
zoning with their RA-40 zoning district request. This is a straight rezoning. The RA-40 district is 
primarily designed to accommodate a compatible mixture of single-family dwellings and agricultural 
uses at lower densities of approximately one unit or less per acre. These areas are generally found in 
areas without sewer service that are not yet appropriate for development at higher densities.  

 
IV. PLANNING BOARD ACTION: 

The Planning Board shall evaluate all proposals for consistency with any adopted long-range plans 
and adopt a statement of consistency with said plans before voting to recommend approval or 
denial of the request. All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by 
the Planning Board for a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to 
conduct a public hearing, but they are encouraged to accept public input, per UDO Section 100.42 
and 100.44.  
 
The Planning Board shall first adopt a Resolution of Consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan and 
other long-range plans then the Planning Board shall vote on the petition (two motions required). 
The Resolution of Consistency may take one of three forms consistent with N.C.G.S 160D-604(d); 
605(a); 701. 
 

LUP CONSISTENCY MOTION (1st Required Motion) 

I move to:  
 

OPTION 1 

Approve the rezoning request and describe its consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan.  
 
or   
 



OPTION 2 

Reject the rezoning request and describe its inconsistency with the adopted Land Use Plan. 
 
or 
 

OPTION 3 

Approve the rezoning request and deem it a modification of the adopted Land Use Plan. The 
Planning Board believes this action taken is reasonable and in the public interest because…...  
            

            

 
 

PETITION MOTION (2ND Required Motion) 

And, therefore, I move to: 
 

OPTION 1 

Approve R-01-25 as written and presented. 
 
or 

 

OPTION 2 

Approve R-01-25 with the following conditions…..  
            

            

 

(Option 3 on next page) 
OPTION 3 

Deny R-01-25 for the following reasons….. 
            

            

 
 
 
 

 







































 

 
TOWN OF CARTHAGE  

PLANNING BOARD 

STATEMENT OF LAND USE PLAN CONSISTENCY  

FOR PROPOSED REZONING FROM RA-40 (MOORE COUNTY) TO RA-40 (TOWN OF CARTHAGE) 

FOR PARCEL ID#20230534; PETITIONER: AMANDA AND JOSHUA BROWN. 

 

 

WHEREAS, amendments to the Town of Carthage Unified Development Ordinance have been proposed, 

which amendments are identified as follows:   

 

REZONING FROM RA-40 (MOORE COUNTY) TO RA-40 (TOWN OF CARTHAGE) FOR PARCEL 

ID#20230534 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the Planning Board of the Town of Carthage resolves as follows: 

 

Section 1. The Planning Board concludes that the above-described amendment(s) are/are not consistent with 

the Town of Carthage 2040 Land Use Plan, as amended based on the following: 

 

Goal 1: Preserve and celebrated small-town community roots. 

Goal 2: Coordinated, intentional, and well-planned growth and development. 

Goal 3: Protection of open space and critical natural features. 

Goal 4: Ample employment opportunities and support for business development. 

Goal 5: Vibrant commercial areas that provide a variety of goods, services, entertainment options, 

and amenities. 

Goal 6: A well-connected multi-modal transportation system. 

Goal 7: High-quality parks and recreational facilities that are accessible to all. 

Goal 8: Protected and preserve historic and cultural resources. 

Goal 9: Adequate supply and high quality of housing. 

Goal 10: Informed, engaged, and active residents that represent a variety of neighborhoods and 

citizen groups.  

Goal 11: Regulations that are consistent with the Town’s vision. 

Goal 12: Cultural, educational, recreational, and other amenities that contribute to the quality of 

life of Carthage’s citizens.  

 

 
Town staff have been receiving concerns with major subdivisions regarding stormwater. To remain 

proactive, staff wishes to add two additional standards to clarify what type of stormwater 

management is required. These two additional standards include a stormwater management plan 

using stormwater ponds or on-site stormwater management plan for lots less than 40,000 sq. ft. 

Additionally, requiring builders to provide a positive drainage map after construction and a 

document stating there is a positive drainage before releasing final Cos (Certificate of Occupancies). 

 

 

Section 2.  Please state the Planning Board’s reasonings/findings for the approval or disapproval of this 

consistency statement based on the above selected goals. 

              

              

               

 

 

Section 2. The Planning Board concludes that the above-described amendment(s) are/are not reasonable 

and in the public interest as they do/do not fulfill a direct objective of the Land Use Plan.     

 

 This statement adopted the    day of _______________, 2025. 

 

            

              

       Elizabeth Futrell, Chair 

 

      

Jamie Sandoval, Clerk to the Planning Board 

 



 

 

MEMORANDUM  

 
Date:  January 7, 2025 
 
To:   Planning Board 
 
From:    Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner 
 

Subject: S-03-24: Site Plan Review for Flexible Industrial Space located at 3810 US 15-501, Parcel 

20220380, Zone: Industrial; Petitioner: Lauren Rothlisberger 

              
 

I. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION REQUEST: 

The applicant and owner, Lauren Rothlisberger, submitted a “Zoning/Subdivision Request Form” for 
a site plan approval to add flexible industrial space to the property located at 3810 US 15-501. This 
new industrial flexible space proposed is 10,338 square feet. The total property size is approximately 
2 acres. There are currently three buildings on the south (bottom) portion of this site. The proposed 
flexible industrial space is on the north side of the property, approximately .8 acres measured using 
Moore County GIS. The site plan includes landscaping, lighting and parking which meet the Unified 
Development Ordinance requirements. Please view Attachment 1 for their proposed site plan.  
 
The applicant has been working with proposing this project since May 2024 and has attended 
multiple Technical Review Committee meetings. The feedback given at these TRC meetings has been 
accounted for in the site plan submitted for review, please view Attachment 1.  
 
The site plan, for this new proposed project, includes 33 parking spaces, with 2 ADA parking spaces, 
landscaping islands, a proposed sign, a landscape buffer and 33 large trees around the buffer. The 
parking is proposed to be concrete for the curbing, ADA parking and sidewalks around the building. 
The area outside of that is proposed as compacted stone. The current zoning of this parcel is 
Industrial. The parking lot is aligned with the appropriate UDO standards in Section 100.58 (Parking).  
 
UDO Section 100.58 (9) (d) says:  
d. Be paved and maintained with concrete, asphalt, stone, or similar material of sufficient thickness 
and consistency to support anticipated traffic volumes and weights; be graded, properly drained, 
stabilized and maintained to prevent dust and erosion. 

 

  

  



Figure 1: Site Location outlined in blue. 

 



 

II. PROJECT INFORMATION: 

1. PARID:    20220380 (PIN: 858800216390) 
 

2. Applicant/Owner:  Lauren Rothlisberger 
 

3. Owner:    Lauren and Paul Rothlisberger 
 

4. Long-Range Plan Designation:  
This future area of this land appears to be commercial or industrial per the adopted 2040 Land 
Use Plan.  
 

5. Current Zoning:  
The current zoning is I (Industrial).  
 

III. APPLICATION REVIEW: 

A. Review Process:  
Applications for site plan review are pursuant to UDO Section 100.32, Section 100.44 and Section 
100.64 “Site-Specific Vesting Plan.”  
 
Sec. 100.32 Planning Board – Powers and Duties 
In addition to its specific duties set forth in this and other Town Ordinances and policies, the 
 Planning Board shall have the following powers and duties: 

1. To make studies of the Town and surrounding areas; 
2. To determine objectives to be sought in the development of the Town; 
3. To propose and recommend plans for achieving these objectives; 
4. To develop and recommend to the Board of Commissions policies, ordinances, administrative 

procedures and other means for carrying out plans in a coordinated and efficient manner; 
5. To advise the Board of Commissioners concerning the use and amendment of means for 

carrying out plans; 
6. To exercise such functions in the administration and enforcement of various means for 

carrying 
out plans as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances of the Town; and 

7. To perform other related duties as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances. 
 
Section 100.44 (4) Planning Board 
All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by the Planning Board for a 
recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to conduct a public hearing, 
but they are encouraged to accept public input. The Planning Board shall evaluate all proposals for 
consistency with any adopted long-range plans and adopt a statement of consistency with said plans 
before voting to recommend approval or denial of the request. 

 
C.  Staff Comments:  
A commercial building to provide industrial flexible space is permitted use per the Table of 
Permitted uses within the Industrial zoning district. The applicant and owner has been diligent in 
following and meeting the Unified Development Ordinance standards. The flexible space, per the 
applicant, will be designed to use approximately 1,500 square feet bay, with a 10 ft. x 10 ft. office 
space and small bathroom. The applicant has stressed that the space will be divided at the request 
of the interested leasing party.  
 
It is unclear if separate meters will be placed in advance for each lessee or if they will be placed as 
the space is rented out. Clarification from the applicant is needed.   

 



IV. PLANNING ATTACHMENTS PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT: 

1. Attachment 1: Site Plan 
 

V. PLANNING BOARD ACTION: 
The Planning Board shall evaluate all proposals for consistency with any adopted long-range plans 
and adopt a statement of consistency with said plans before voting to recommend approval or 
denial of the request. All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by 
the Planning Board for a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to 
conduct a public hearing, but they are encouraged to accept public input, per UDO Section 100.42 
and 100.44.  
 
The Planning Board shall first adopt a Resolution of Consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan and 
other long-range plans then the Planning Board shall vote on the petition (two motions required). 
The Resolution of Consistency may take one of three forms consistent with N.C.G.S 160D-604(d); 
605(a); 701. 

 
 

PETITION MOTION (Required Motion) 

And, therefore, I move to: 
 
OPTION 1 
Approve S-03-24 as written and presented. 
 
or 
 
OPTION 2 
Approve S-03-24 with the following conditions…..  
 

OPTION 3 
Deny S-03-24 for the following reasons….. 

 

 
             

             

              

 





 

 

MEMORANDUM  

 
Date:  January 7, 2025 
 
To:   Planning Board 
 
From:    Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner 
 

Subject: TA-02-24: Text Amendment for Major Subdivision- Construction Drawings (A), Unified 

Development Ordinance (UDO) as it pertains to Section 100.65-9 (A);  

Petitioner: Town of Carthage  

              
 

I. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION REQUEST: 

The Town Planning staff, along with the Public Works Director and the Town Manager, realize that 
there are stormwater concerns with major subdivisions that have been impacting the Town of 
Carthage and Moore County in general. To remain proactive, the Town would like to add two 
additional standards to help clarify what type of stormwater management is required in the Town of 
Carthage. Currently, our language is not as specific as it could be, so to alleviate ambiguity, we 
propose the following below in the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). All text that is italicized 
is the existing language in the UDO. The underlined text is what we are proposing to be added to 
this section. Please view Attachment 1 for the entire UDO Section 100.65-9.  
 
Sec. 100.65-9 Major Subdivision – Construction Drawings  
A. Construction Plan Submittal. Following preliminary plat approval, the subdivider shall submit 2 

paper copies and a digital copy of the construction plans to the Administrator. Licensed 
Professional Engineer design and certification are required on all construction related plans, 
including but not limited to streets, stormwater controls, drainage, and utilities (storm sewers, 
sanitary sewers, water systems, electric, cable, natural gas, telephone, etc.). Submittal 
requirements are reflected in Sec 100.65-15. One copy of the construction drawings shall be 
returned to the applicant with town comments. 
 

a. Stormwater controls include having a stormwater management plan using stormwater 
ponds or on-site stormwater management plan for any lot less than 40,000 square feet. 
The stormwater management plan is in addition to the NCDEQ requirements for basic 
stormwater management and is subject to approval by the Town of Carthage, 
engineering team, as adequate. 
 

b. In addition, we require all builders to provide a positive drainage map after construction 
and a document stating there is positive drainage before we will release the final 
Certificate of Occupancy (CO). 

 

c. STANDARDS FOR DETENTION PONDS. 
(A) Generally. It is the intent of this section to provide fencing standards for all 

stormwater detention ponds required by the State of North Carolina in an 
effort to mitigate any safety and aesthetic issues they may present. The 
enforcement of these standards will be through the TOC zoning and general 
police powers. 



(B) Fencing required. Fencing shall be provided around the perimeter of all 
stormwater detention ponds located within the corporate limits and its 
extraterritorial jurisdiction. The required fence shall be no less than four feet 
in height. It shall be a steel or aluminum chain link fence with black or green 
vinyl coating. All fences shall provide securable entrances to allow access for 
maintenance personnel and equipment, and to provide for the safety of 
citizens. 
 

(C) Applicability to existing detention ponds. The existence of detention ponds 
within the corporate limits that do not provide for adequate fencing 
surrounding the ponds presents a threat to the safety of the TOC citizens. 
Therefore, all detention ponds located within the corporate limits existing at 
the time of adoption of this section shall, within one year after the effective 
date of this subchapter, be altered to comply with the provisions of this 
section. 

 
II. APPLICATION REVIEW: 

A. Review Process:  
Applications for ordinance text amendments are reviewed pursuant to UDO Section 100.32, Section 
100.42 and Section 100.44.  
 
B. Amendment Procedure and Review:  
When reviewing an application for a text amendment, the Planning Board shall consider and be 
guided by Article 3. Below is highlighted Section 100.32, Section 100.42 and Section 100.44 (4) as set 
forth in UDO: 
 
Sec. 100.32 Planning Board – Powers and Duties 
In addition to its specific duties set forth in this and other Town Ordinances and policies, the Planning 
Board shall have the following powers and duties: 

1. To make studies of the Town and surrounding areas; 
2. To determine objectives to be sought in the development of the Town; 
3. To propose and recommend plans for achieving these objectives; 
4. To develop and recommend to the Board of Commissions policies, ordinances, administrative 

procedures and other means for carrying out plans in a coordinated and efficient manner; 
5. To advise the Board of Commissioners concerning the use and amendment of means for 

carrying out plans; 
6. To exercise such functions in the administration and enforcement of various means for 

carrying 
out plans as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances of the Town; and 

7. To perform other related duties as may be assigned by this article or other ordinances. 
 
Section 100.42 Types of Amendments: 
Amendments may be to the text of the ordinance or take the form of map amendments, often known 
as rezoning. The Town of Carthage recognizes three types of amendments.  

1. Text Amendments. This type of amendment is used when a party chooses to modify the 
actual text of the ordinance. This is a legislative decision by the Board of Commissioners.  

2. Map Amendments. This type of amendment is used when a party chooses to change a 
zoning district from one type to another. Often known as a straight rezoning, it recognizes 
that the change in district allows for all uses allowed within a given zoning district. It cannot 
be conditioned in any way. This is a legislative decision by the Board of Commissioners.  

3. Conditional Zoning. Conditional Zoning is an amendment process that is both a map 
amendment and a text amendment. It is a legislative decision by the Board of 
Commissioners, but it allows for the placement of conditions and/or limits on the approval. 

 



Section 100.44 (4) Planning Board 
All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by the Planning Board for 
a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to conduct a public 
hearing, but they are encouraged to accept public input. The Planning Board shall evaluate all 
proposals for consistency with any adopted long-range plans and adopt a statement of consistency 
with said plans before voting to recommend approval or denial of the request.  
 
C.  Staff Comments:  
We recommend that the PB adopt the text amendment, as stormwater management onsite is 
important for each subdivision development.    

   
III. PLANNING BOARD ACTION: 

The Planning Board shall evaluate all proposals for consistency with any adopted long-range plans 
and adopt a statement of consistency with said plans before voting to recommend approval or 
denial of the request. All proposed Development Ordinance amendments must be given review by 
the Planning Board for a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. They are not required to 
conduct a public hearing, but they are encouraged to accept public input, per UDO Section 100.42 
and 100.44.  
 
The Planning Board shall first adopt a Resolution of Consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan and 
other long-range plans then the Planning Board shall vote on the petition (two motions required). 
The Resolution of Consistency may take one of three forms consistent with N.C.G.S 160D-604(d); 
605(a); 701. 
 

LUP CONSISTENCY MOTION (1st Required Motion) 

I move to:  
 

OPTION 1 

Approve the text amendment and describe its consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan.  
 
or   
 

OPTION 2 

Reject the text amendment and describe its inconsistency with the adopted Land Use Plan. 
 
or 
 

OPTION 3 

Approve the text amendment and deem it a modification of the adopted Land Use Plan. The Planning 
Board believes this action taken is reasonable and in the public interest because…...  
             

             

             

    

 
 

PETITION MOTION (2ND Required Motion) 

And, therefore, I move to: 
 



OPTION 1 

Approve TA-02-24 as written and presented. 
 
or 

 

OPTION  

Approve TA-02-24 with the following revisions…..  
             

             

            ______ 

 

OPTION 3 

Deny TA-02-24 for the following reasons…..  
             

             

            ______ 

 

 



 

 
TOWN OF CARTHAGE  

PLANNING BOARD 

STATEMENT OF LAND USE PLAN CONSISTENCY  

FOR PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT FOR MAJOR SUBDIVISION – CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS 

(A) SECTION 100.65-9 (A) IN THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE. 

 

 

WHEREAS, amendments to the Town of Carthage Unified Development Ordinance have been proposed, 

which amendments are identified as follows:   

 

Major Subdivision – Construction Drawings (A) Section 100.65-9 (A) 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the Planning Board of the Town of Carthage resolves as follows: 

 

Section 1. The Planning Board concludes that the above-described amendment(s) are/are not consistent with 

the Town of Carthage 2040 Land Use Plan, as amended based on the following: 

 

Goal 1: Preserve and celebrated small-town community roots. 

Goal 2: Coordinated, intentional, and well-planned growth and development. 

Goal 3: Protection of open space and critical natural features. 

Goal 4: Ample employment opportunities and support for business development. 

Goal 5: Vibrant commercial areas that provide a variety of goods, services, entertainment options, 

and amenities. 

Goal 6: A well-connected multi-modal transportation system. 

Goal 7: High-quality parks and recreational facilities that are accessible to all. 

Goal 8: Protected and preserve historic and cultural resources. 

Goal 9: Adequate supply and high quality of housing. 

Goal 10: Informed, engaged, and active residents that represent a variety of neighborhoods and 

citizen groups.  

Goal 11: Regulations that are consistent with the Town’s vision. 

Goal 12: Cultural, educational, recreational, and other amenities that contribute to the quality of 

life of Carthage’s citizens.  

 

 
Town staff have been receiving concerns with major subdivisions regarding stormwater. To remain 

proactive, staff wishes to add two additional standards to clarify what type of stormwater 

management is required. These two additional standards include a stormwater management plan 

using stormwater ponds or on-site stormwater management plan for lots less than 40,000 sq. ft. 

Additionally, requiring builders to provide a positive drainage map after construction and a 

document stating there is a positive drainage before releasing final Cos (Certificate of Occupancies). 

 

 

Section 2.  Please state the Planning Board’s reasonings/findings for the approval or disapproval of this 

consistency statement based on the above selected goals. 

              

              

               

 

 

Section 2. The Planning Board concludes that the above-described amendment(s) are/are not reasonable 

and in the public interest as they do/do not fulfill a direct objective of the Land Use Plan.     

 

 This statement adopted the    day of _______________, 2025. 

 

            

 

             

       Elizabeth Futrell, Chair 

 

      

Jamie Sandoval, Clerk to the Planning Board 

 


